

Middle-Out for Millennials

An Economic Agenda for Young Americans

Sarah Ayres October 2013





Middle-Out for Millennials

An Economic Agenda for Young Americans

Sarah Ayres October 2013

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 4 Challenge No. 1: Creating jobs for Millennials
- 7 Challenge No. 2: Promoting good jobs
- 10 Challenge No. 3: Making college affordable
- 12 Challenge No. 4: Easing the burden of student-debt repayment
- 14 Challenge No. 5: Expanding access to postsecondary education and training
- 16 Challenge No. 6: Improving retirement security
- 18 Conclusion
- 19 About the author
- 20 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

The American economy is not working for Millennials. The generation of young people born between roughly 1980 and 2000—an estimated 70 million individuals—is facing double-digit unemployment rates, low wages, mounting college costs, and crippling student-loan debt. When previous generations were between the ages of 18 and 33, they knew that by working hard and playing by the rules they could eventually achieve a good middle-class life, which meant owning a home, supporting a family, paying for their children's college education, saving for retirement, and even taking a vacation now and then. But for the many Millennials today who are struggling to get by, the dream of a middle-class life is increasingly out of reach. Rebuilding our economy from the middle out—not from the top down—is central to creating an American economy that works for Millennials.

This report outlines six key economic challenges facing Millennials and offers policies to create opportunities for this generation of young Americans by expanding and strengthening the middle class—a middle-out approach. These six key economic challenges are:

- 1. Creating jobs for young people
- 2. Promoting good jobs
- 3. Making college affordable
- 4. Easing the burden of student-debt repayment
- 5. Expanding access to postsecondary education and training
- 6. Improving retirement security

This report does not attempt to tackle every matter of importance to today's young people nor does it discuss every policy that would benefit Millennials. Instead it zeros in on the economic issues that are central to this generation's bottom line, standard of living, financial security, and long-term economic prospects. Furthermore, it offers concrete policy interventions that lawmakers can enact today to create economic opportunities for young people.

Why do Millennials need a middle-out economic agenda? Simply put, the past few decades' experiment in supply-side—or what has been termed "trickle-down" economics—has failed the vast majority of Americans and especially young Americans. For too many years, policymakers in Washington have approached economic policy with the belief that the government should focus its efforts on the wealthy, the so-called "job creators," and that by reducing taxes and regulations on the wealthiest 1 percent, prosperity would "trickle down" to the rest of us.

But trickle-down economic policies have failed the Millennial generation. The unemployment rate for Americans under the age of 25 was 15.6 percent in August, more than double the national unemployment rate. Young people who have jobs are struggling to make ends meet with low wages, nonexistent benefits, and poor job security. At the same time, costs for middle-class basics such as education, health care, and gas have skyrocketed. While college has long been viewed as the ticket to a well-paying job and a middle-class life, the price of a college education for Millennials is more than 1,000 times what their parents paid.² Consequently, student-debt levels have ballooned, and young people, crushed under the weight of student debt, are increasingly forced to move back home with their parents,³ forgoing buying cars and houses⁴ and even putting off marriage and children.⁵ Faced with these immediate economic challenges, young Americans are not saving for retirement, which poses a serious threat to this generation's long-term financial security.6

Moreover, it has become increasingly difficult for young Americans to join the middle class. Bhashkar Mazumder, a senior economist at the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, found that starting between 1980 and 1990, a child who is born poor is much less likely to rise into the middle class than a child born before 1980.7 As a result, the United States now has less economic mobility than other developed countries.8

This is because the supply siders had it backwards: A strong middle class is the reason for economic growth, not a consequence of it. This is the determination of new economic evidence documented by Center for American Progress economists Heather Boushey and Adam Hersh in their 2012 report, "The American Middle Class, Income Inequality, and the Strength of Our Economy: New Evidence in Economics." The report finds that a strong middle class promotes good education and skill development, imbuing workers with the high levels of human capital responsible for rising productivity levels. In addition, a strong middle class creates a stable source of demand for goods and services, offering

certainty to business investors that there will be a market for their products. What's more, most of America's entrepreneurs and inventors have come from the middle class.¹⁰ Finally, a strong middle class demands good governance, property rights, investments in public goods, and the transparent and trustworthy legal structures vital to a thriving, stable economy. In short, the middle class is the driver of economic growth.

For these reasons, any successful economic agenda for Millennials must grow our economy from the middle out. This means investing in job creation that puts young people to work. It means raising workplace standards so young people starting out at the bottom of the career ladder can earn a decent income, tend to the needs of their families without fear of being fired, and organize for better wages and benefits. A middle-out economy for Millennials means improving college affordability, easing the burden of repayment for student-loan borrowers, and expanding access to successful and cost-effective models of education and training, including apprenticeships. A middle-out agenda for Millennials must include measures to boost retirement security for both Millennials and their parents, whose retirement will create employment opportunities for younger generations.

The recommendations included in this report are a mix of new policies and policies previously discussed at CAP. Some of these policies represent tried and true ideas that are proven to help grow the middle class, while others represent targeted solutions for Millennials in particular. Many are not typically considered youth issues," but as this report demonstrates, they are critical to Millennials' success. In addition to the discussion here, each of the six challenges will be explored in greater detail in a series of forthcoming reports.

Challenge No. 1: Creating jobs for Millennials

Millennials have been hit especially hard by slow hiring and high unemployment rates. In August the unemployment rate for Americans under the age of 25 was a staggering 15.6 percent—more than twice the national rate of 7.3 percent. 11 For a young person to be counted as "unemployed," he or she must be actively looking for a job by sending out resumes, filling out applications, interviewing for positions, or engaging in other job-search activities. 12 This means that the unemployment rate does not include young people who are not looking for work because they are in school or have simply given up. Although the youth unemployment is down from an all-time high of nearly 20 percent in 2010, the unemployment rate among young people remains historically high.¹³

High levels of unemployment hurt Millennials' economic prospects in both the short term and the long term. In the short term, unemployed Millennials may be forced to move in with their parents, many could default on their student loans, and most will have to postpone major purchases. In the long term, Millennials will experience reduced wages, greater fiscal costs, and slow economic growth.¹⁴

Research shows that workers who experience an extended period of unemployment at a young age earn lower wages once they do find a job. What's more, they will continue to earn lower wages even years later as a result of the missed opportunity to develop human capital in their 20s. A young person who is unemployed for just six months can expect to earn about \$22,000 less over the next 10 years than they could have expected to earn had they not experienced a lengthy period of unemployment.¹⁵ Based on this finding, according to our analysis, Millennials will lose more than \$20 billion in reduced wages over the next decade due to high unemployment today.¹⁶

These lost wages negatively impact Millennials' current bottom line in addition to reducing future economic opportunities. When young people have less money to spend, they will pump less money into the economy through the purchase of houses, cars, various gadgets, dinners out, and other services. As a result of this reduced consumer demand, businesses will sell fewer products, make lower profits, and create fewer jobs. In this way, unemployment among Millennials today will weaken their opportunities for economic growth and prosperity for years to come.

Finally, high levels of unemployment among young people end up incurring fiscal costs for the nation in the form of lost revenues, the need for governmentprovided health care, costs associated with increased crime, and additional welfare payments. A recent study commissioned by the White House Council for Community Solutions pegged the cost to taxpayers of today's unemployed youth at \$1.6 trillion over the course of their lifetimes.¹⁷

Creating economic opportunities for Millennials hinges on investing in job creation today. Lawmakers can boost jobs for this generation by expanding national service opportunities, which give workers experience while serving their communities and by implementing a summer jobs program such as the one in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act that successfully created jobs for hundreds of thousands of teens and young adults in 2009 and 2010.¹⁸

Fully implement the Edward M. Kennedy Serve America Act

National service programs such as AmeriCorps offer young people valuable opportunities to develop skills and experience, pursue higher education, and explore careers, all while serving communities that have been hit hard by growing poverty rates, a decrease in philanthropic giving, and severe cuts to state and federal anti-poverty resources. To be sure, AmeriCorps jobs are not designed to be career positions. They are low wage and short term, although they do offer health care and education benefits. That said, research shows that participating in AmeriCorps benefits young adults in a number of ways, including by improving employment outcomes and job skills later in life. 19 What's more, Millennials want to serve. In 2011, AmeriCorps received a record 582,000 applications for only 80,000 positions.²⁰

Congress should fully implement the Edward M. Kennedy Serve America Act, which authorized the addition of 250,000 AmeriCorps positions by 2017.²¹ Despite the passage of this bipartisan legislation in 2009, Congress provided funding for only about 80,000 AmeriCorps slots in 2012.²² Making matters even worse, sequestration will result in the elimination of more than 4,000 AmeriCorps positions.²³ Expanding the number of AmeriCorps positions will provide opportunities for Millennials to develop crucial skills and work experience at a time when many private companies are still reluctant to hire young people.

Create a Pathways Back to Work Fund

Subsidized employment programs have successfully re-engaged unemployed people in the workforce, boosted family income, improved workers' future employment prospects, and supported the financial health of participating businesses.²⁴ The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act provided \$1.2 billion in funding for the Workforce Investment Act's youth jobs programs and successfully created more than 370,000 summer jobs for young Americans in 2009 and 2010.²⁵ But efforts to extend this funding have been hampered by a shortsighted focus on austerity by Congress.

The need for this funding is great. For this reason, Congress should create a \$12.5 billion Pathways Back to Work Fund, as proposed by the President Barack Obama in his fiscal year 2014 budget.²⁶ By subsidizing summer and year-round jobs for hundreds of thousands of Millennials, this fund would help to reduce youth unemployment rates, boost incomes, and improve Millennials' long-term economic prospects.

Challenge No. 2: Promoting good jobs

Our economy is failing even the young people who have jobs. Millennials are more likely than older workers to work at a job that lacks sufficient minimum pay, access to leave, and effective collective bargaining rights. Workers under the age of 25 constitute only about one-fifth of hourly paid workers, but they make up about half of those paid the federal minimum wage or less.²⁷ Today's young people are also more likely to make the federal minimum wage, which currently stands at \$7.25 per hour.²⁸ Over the past decade, the share of hourly paid workers under the age 25 who were paid the minimum wage grew from 7 percent to 12 percent.²⁹ Furthermore, half of workers under the age of 25 are parents, and millions more serve as unpaid caregivers to ailing family members.³⁰ Yet younger workers are less likely than older workers to have access to time off to care for themselves and their families.³¹ And workers under the age of 25 are the least likely of all workers to be members of a union, even though unions improve wages and benefits for workers.³²

Failing to provide basic benefits and protections to workers means that young people struggle to pay for basic necessities, fear losing their job if they have a child or fall sick, and are too often unjustly blocked in their attempts to organize for better working conditions. A young person working full time at the federal minimum wage earns only \$15,000 per year, which is well below the \$19,530 federal poverty level for a family of three.³³ Women who lack access to parental leave are less likely to return to work after having a child and more likely to receive public assistance and food stamps.³⁴ But when Millennials try to form a union to improve their wages and benefits they are too often stymied by a union election process that is stacked against workers.35

An economy that works for Millennials requires high-quality jobs that ensure a middle-class standard of living. This means raising the minimum wage, expanding access to paid leave, and strengthening workers' right to form a union. These policies also grow the economy by supporting a strong and stable source of consumer demand and make it possible for Millennials to be positioned to adequately raise the next generation of Americans—ensuring a vibrant economy in the future.

Raise the minimum wage

Congress should raise the minimum wage and index it to 50 percent of average wages. Raising the minimum wage would enable the 1.8 million workers under the age of 25 who are making the minimum wage³⁶ to have a better quality of life, increase earnings for workers higher up the income ladder through what is termed the "spillover effect," and boost economic growth through increased productivity and consumer demand.³⁷ Furthermore, the research is clear that raising the minimum wage does not result in job losses.³⁸

Enact Social Security Cares, a national paid family and medical leave program

Congress should adopt Social Security Cares, a national paid family and medical leave program that would provide up to 12 weeks of partial wage replacement to allow workers time to care for a new child, to help a seriously ill family member, or to recover from one's own illness. Social Security Cares, detailed in the 2012 CAP report "Social Security Cares: Why America is Ready for Paid Family and Medical Leave," would make it possible for Millennials to have children, care for ill family members, or get sick without the fear of losing their jobs.³⁹

Guarantee workers the right to paid sick days

Congress should allow workers to earn paid sick days that can be used to recover from illness or care for a sick family member, as outlined in the Healthy Families Act and the CAP report "300 Million Engines of Growth: A Middle-Out Plan for Jobs, Business, and a Growing Economy."40 Access to paid sick days would benefit the many young workers who are currently forced to choose between their job, their health, and the health of their family members.⁴¹

Pass comprehensive labor-law reform

Congress should pass comprehensive labor-law reform that establishes a fair process for workers to decide on union representation; expands coverage so more workers are provided the right to organize; establishes meaningful penalties and remedies for workers who are fired or discriminated against for exercising their

right to organize; and promotes productive collective bargaining for first contracts so that young workers can negotiate for improved wages and benefits.⁴² More details on policies to boost union membership can be found in the "300 Million Engines of Growth" report.43

Challenge No. 3: Making college affordable

Millennials face the highest college costs in history on top of dwindling government support for postsecondary education. In the past three decades, the cost of attaining a college degree has increased more than 1,000 percent. 44 That's more than gasoline prices, which increased 200 percent over the same time period. It's also more than health care, which increased 250 percent, and more than the consumer price index, which increased 100 percent.⁴⁵ At the same time, state governments have cut funding for colleges and universities and federal student aid has lost much of its buying power.⁴⁶

Rising tuition costs and declining student aid leaves students saddled with debt and may deter many low- and middle-income young people from seeking postsecondary education. One study found that two-thirds of prospective students eliminated certain colleges from consideration due to cost—including 40 percent who eliminated colleges due to cost before even researching the institutions.⁴⁷ Too many students who decided to attend college can only do so after taking on unsustainable levels of debt, leading one in four student borrowers to fall behind on their loan payments. 48

Making college more affordable is crucial to expanding economic opportunities for Millennials. Even though the price of college has soared in recent decades, attaining a bachelor's degree is still a smart choice for young Americans. Young adults with a bachelor's degree earn more than twice as much as those without a high school diploma and 50 percent more than those who completed high school.⁴⁹ Moreover, supporting education, especially for those who cannot afford it, provides the foundation for our entire economy to grow. The U.S. economy needs a highly skilled labor force to innovate, grow, and compete in the global marketplace. Making college more affordable for young Americans requires improving the information available to prospective students and their families, along with increasing federal Pell Grants for low-income students.

Improve consumer information

We should expand and improve the U.S. Department of Education's college scorecard, the interactive tool that outlines how schools compare in terms of cost, graduation rates, and student-loan default rates.⁵⁰ In addition, we should require colleges to use easy-to-understand standardized financial aid award letters and make accreditation-agency reviews publicly available. Offering easy-to-find, easy-to-understand information, as we outlined in our "300 Million Engines of Growth" report, 51 will allow students and their families to evaluate the quality and cost of colleges and empower consumers to demand useful degrees at a reasonable price.⁵²

Increase Pell Grants

Congress should provide an additional \$20 billion for Pell Grants between 2018 and 2022 to boost the maximum value of the grants to \$6,990 by 2022. This amount will help ensure that Pell Grants retain the buying power intended by Congress when the program was created nearly 50 years ago. 53 Boosting Pell Grants to cover more of a student's college expenses will make it easier for lowincome students to stay in school and acquire a degree.⁵⁴

Challenge No. 4: Easing the burden of student-debt repayment

Faced with the skyrocketing cost of college, too many young people now find themselves saddled with unmanageable debt in an unfriendly labor market. The average student-loan borrower owes a balance of \$25,000,55 and 1 in 10 borrowers now owes more than \$54,000 in student loans.⁵⁶ In total, Americans have \$1.2 trillion in student-loan debt—the second-largest form of consumer debt behind home mortgages.⁵⁷

This massive level of student-loan debt threatens the economic well-being of Millennials, as one in four student borrowers are behind on their student-loan payments, 58 which in turn creates a "domino effect" of negative consequences that ripple through the economy. The pressure to pay back huge loan balances is leading Millennials to take lower-paying jobs just to stave off debt collectors, to delay major purchases such as cars and houses, to put off marriage and children, and to fail to save adequately for their futures.⁵⁹ As a result, many experts have raised concerns that the burden of student-loan debt is inhibiting growth in the broader economy.⁶⁰

Easing the burden of repayment for borrowers can help prevent the student-debt burden from wreaking havoc on the U.S. economy. We can accomplish this by allowing borrowers to refinance their student loans, by making income-based repayment the default option for borrowers, and by establishing a system of Qualified Student Loans.

Allow borrowers to refinance their student loans

Everyone from homeowners to corporations to state and local governments is taking advantage of today's historically low interest rates to refinance their debts; everyone, that is, except student-loan borrowers. Young Americans who took out unsubsidized federal student loans are locked into an interest rate of 6.8 percent more than double the interest rate on the 10-year Treasury bond, which currently stands at 2.72 percent. 61 Congress should allow student borrowers to refinance

their student loans, as discussed in the recent CAP report "It's Our Interest: The Need to Reduce Student Loan Interest Rates."62 Lowering interest rates will allow struggling borrowers to lower their monthly payments, freeing up income and boosting the overall economy.⁶³

Make income-based repayment the default repayment option

Federal student-loan borrowers have the option of income-based repayment that caps their student-loan payments to no more than 10 percent of their discretionary income.⁶⁴ But enrollment in the program is low in part because many borrowers are unaware of its existence, leading them to default on their student-loan debt unnecessarily.⁶⁵ Congress should make income-based repayment the default option for federal student-loan borrowers, making it easier for more borrowers to stay current on their payments.⁶⁶

Establish Qualified Student Loans that cannot be discharged in bankruptcy

Student loans, unlike most other debts such as credit card debt, are generally not dischargeable in bankruptcy. As a result, student debt can follow borrowers to the grave, and those who fail to make payments see their wages garnished, their tax refunds taken, and their Social Security checks seized. Congress should establish Qualified Student Loans—clear and public standards for loans that cannot be easily discharged in bankruptcy. Qualified Student Loans should have reasonable repayment options and evidence that the educational institution and program gives borrowers a reasonable chance to repay the loan. Loans that do not meet those standards should be eligible for discharge in bankruptcy, similar to credit card debts. Establishing a system of Qualified Student Loans, as discussed in a recent CAP report, would expand options for troubled borrowers, improve transparency in higher education, and encourage more prudent student lending.⁶⁷

Challenge No. 5: Expanding access to postsecondary education and training

According to a recent Georgetown University study, too many Millennials are failing to develop the skills that will be needed for future jobs—about a third of which will require some college or an associate's degree. An analysis by Georgetown University's Center on Education and the Workforce finds that by 2020 the United States will be short 5 million workers with postsecondary education.⁶⁸ According to the analysis, at least 30 percent of jobs in 2020 will require some college education or an associate's degree, but only 27 percent of today's adults have that level of postsecondary education. ⁶⁹ Millennials who don't gain the skills and credentials they need to qualify for good jobs in high-growth industries will face dwindling job prospects, lower wages, and fewer opportunities to join the middle class. Moreover, failing to develop a well-educated and skilled workforce will hold back America's productivity, innovation, and entrepreneurship—hampering long-term economic growth and competitiveness.

Apprenticeships, which combine classroom education and on-the-job learning, are a particularly successful training model that can close the skilled-worker gap and improve wages and job opportunities for Millennials. An apprentice is a paid employee who is also enrolled in a two- to four-year training program that includes both formal on-the-job training and classroom instruction. Research shows that workers who complete apprenticeship programs earn an average starting salary of \$50,000 and make as much as \$225,000 more than comparable job seekers in their lifetimes.⁷⁰ But apprenticeships are a relatively underused model in the United States, with fewer than 400,000 registered apprentices nationwide.⁷¹ By way of comparison, Germany has 1.8 million apprentices despite having only one-third of the population of the United States.⁷²

Expand apprenticeships

In the upcoming reauthorization of the Workforce Investment Act, Congress should create a new \$2 billion program to support an additional 1 million apprenticeships annually. Expanding apprenticeships in high-growth fields such as health care, information technology, and advanced manufacturing will create opportunities for Millennials who want to get paid to work while also earning a degree or credential that is portable anywhere in the country. 73 A proposal to expand apprenticeships will be discussed in detail in a forthcoming CAP report.

Challenge No. 6: Improving retirement security

The private retirement system is not working for Americans of all ages, but it is especially failing Millennials. Previous generations relied largely on defined-benefit pensions to provide retirement income security, but Millennials and their parents depend primarily on less-secure 401(k) plans—which aren't working. The typical near-retirement worker has accumulated enough money to provide a monthly retirement payment of only about \$575.74 As for Millennials, not only are they not saving for retirement, but most also do not even have a retirement account available through their jobs. Widespread undersaving for retirement threatens Millennials' long-term economic security and limits their job opportunities in the short term as older workers are forced to stay in the workforce longer instead of retiring.

Most Americans are undersaving for retirement, and Millennials are in the most precarious situation. The number of workers who have access to a retirement plan at work has declined over the past several decades to the point that today just 40 percent of workers under the age of 35 have a retirement plan at work compared to 53 percent of workers over the age of 35.75 More worrying, the median retirement account balance for Millennials ages 25 to 34 is \$0.76 In other words, half of all people under the age of 35 have saved nothing for retirement. Saving early is important for a secure retirement, as early investments have the most time to experience the power of compounding interest and maximizing savings.

At the same time, making it easier for older generations to save for retirement will also benefit Millennials in the form of expanded job opportunities. In 2013, 22 percent of all workers decided to postpone their retirement, with most citing financial insecurity as the reason for doing so.⁷⁷ Making it economically feasible for older workers to retire will open up jobs for Millennials. Moreover, ensuring that older generations are able to retire securely frees Millennials from the financial burden of supporting their aging parents.

An economy that works for Millennials is one in which all Americans will be able to achieve the middle-class goal of retiring with security and dignity. This means guaranteeing that all workers have access to a quality retirement plan and that savings incentives in the tax code are easy to use and help the people who need it most.

Create a SAFE Retirement Plan

We should give workers access to a Secure, Accessible, Flexible, and Efficient, or SAFE, Retirement Plan, as we discuss in our report "Making Saving for Retirement Easier, Cheaper, and More Secure."78 A SAFE Retirement Plan is a hybrid between defined-contribution plans such as 401(k)s and defined-benefit plans such as pension plans that offers workers the best aspects of both retirement plans, such as consistent monthly payments, portability, and constant cost to employers.⁷⁹ A new analysis by CAP finds that instituting a SAFE Retirement Plan would provide Americans with a more secure retirement at a far lower cost.⁸⁰

Open up the federal Thrift Savings Plan to the public

All workers should be able to invest in the Thrift Savings Plan, the 401(k)-style plan currently available to federal employees. This would provide all workers with access to a model 401(k) plan that has very low fees, strong oversight, smart and limited investment options, and an annuity feature. 81 This proposal is also discussed in more detail in the "Making Saving for Retirement Easier, Cheaper, and More Secure" report.82

Create a Universal Savings Credit

Congress should create a Universal Savings Credit that replaces all current employer and employee deductions to retirement, health, and education savings accounts and corrects the upside-down nature of current incentives. A Universal Savings Credit, as explained in a recent CAP report, would vastly simplify the existing savings incentives and make it easier for people to understand how to contribute, invest, and withdraw money from their savings. It would also ensure that the lower-income households who need the most help in saving garner the most benefits from savings tax incentives.83

Conclusion

As this report details, today's economy is not working for Millennials. This generation of young people faces bleak employment prospects, economic insecurity, and dwindling opportunities to enter the middle class. There are, however, effective policy solutions that will create economic opportunities for young people by addressing the challenges they face and ensuring that Millennials will be able to thrive in a growing American middle class.

Creating an economy that works for Millennials requires recognizing that our economy grows from the middle out—not the top down—and enacting policies that strengthen the ability of this generation to enter the middle class. This means investing in job creation, ensuring that all jobs are high-quality jobs with good pay and benefits, making it easier for students and borrowers to pay for college, expanding access to proven training models such as apprenticeships, and boosting retirement income security for all Americans. These are the ambitious, forwardthinking policies that America needs to transform our economy from one that is failing Millennials to one that creates opportunities for them.

Lawmakers cannot afford to ignore the needs of this generation. In future reports we will expand on each of these key policy areas in greater detail. Congress, however, shouldn't wait to act. Lawmakers should immediately pass the middle-out economic agenda for Millennials outlined here. Like all Americans, Millennials want to participate productively in the economy and grow our nation's prosperity. Let's make that possible.

About the author

Sarah Ayres is a Policy Analyst in the Economic Policy Department at American Progress. Her work focuses on a range of issues affecting shared economic growth, including youth participation in the economy, the middle class, employment, manufacturing, and postsecondary education. Her work has been cited by *The* Wall Street Journal, The Washington Post, Fortune, and CNBC, among others.

Prior to joining American Progress, Sarah handled economic and financial policy as legislative assistant to Congressman Rick Boucher (D-VA), a senior member of the Energy and Commerce Committee. She has worked on a number of national, state, and local campaigns in her native New Hampshire, including managing the field campaign for Gov. John Lynch (D) in 2008.

Sarah has a bachelor's degree in government and sociology from Dartmouth College. She grew up in Hanover, New Hampshire.

Endnotes

- 1 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Current Population Survey" (2013), available at http://www.bls.gov/cps/.
- 2 Michelle Jamrisko and Ilan Kolet, "Cost of College Degree in U.S. Soars 12 Fold: Chart of the Day," Bloomberg News, August 15, 2012, available at http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2012-08-15/cost-of-college-degree-inu-s-soars-12-fold-chart-of-the-day.html.
- 3 Lou Gulino, "Boomerang generation: U.S. Census shows more young adults moving in with parents," Syracuse Post-Standard, November 7, 2011, available at http:// www.syracuse.com/news/index.ssf/2011/11/boomerang generation us census.html.
- 4 Richard Fry, "Young Adults After the Recession: Fewer Homes, Fewer Cars, Less Debt" (Washington: Pew Research Center, 2013), available at http://www. pewsocialtrends.org/2013/02/21/young-adults-afterthe-recession-fewer-homes-fewer-cars-less-debt/.
- 5 Elizabeth Dwoskin, "Will You Marry Me (After I Pay Off My Student Loans)?," Bloomberg Businessweek, March 28, 2012, available at http://www.businessweek.com/ articles/2012-03-28/will-you-marry-me-after-i-pay-offmy-student-loans.
- 6 Nari Rhee, "The Retirement Savings Crisis: Is It Worse Than We Think?" (Washington: National Institute on Retirement Security, 2013), available at http://www. nirsonline.org/storage/nirs/documents/Retirement%20 Savings%20Crisis/retirementsavingscrisis final.pdf.
- 7 Bhashkar Mazumder, "Is Intergenerational Economic Mobility Lower Now Than in the Past?" (Chicago: Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, 2012), available at http:// www.chicagofed.org/digital_assets/publications/chicago_fed_letter/2012/cflapril2012_297.pdf.
- 8 Heather Boushey and Adam Hersh, "The American Middle Class, Income Inequality, and the Strength of Our Economy" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at http://www.americanprogress. org/wp-content/uploads/issues/2012/05/pdf/middleclass growth.pdf.
- 9 Ibid.
- 10 Ibid.
- 11 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Current Population
- 12 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Glossary," available at http://www.bls.gov/bls/glossary.htm (last accessed August 2013).
- 13 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Current Population Survey."
- 14 Sarah Ayres, "The High Cost of Youth Unemployment" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ labor/report/2013/04/05/59428/the-high-cost-ofyouth-unemployment/.
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 Ibid.

- 17 Clive R. Belfield, Henry M. Levin, and Rachel Rosen, "The Economic Value of Opportunity Youth" (Washington: Civic Enterprises, 2012), available at http://www.serve. gov/newimages/council/pdf/econ_value_opportunity youth.pdf.
- 18 The White House, "Fact Sheet: American Jobs Act," Press release, September 8, 2011, available at http://www. whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2011/09/08/factsheet-american-jobs-act.
- 19 Corporation for National and Community Service, "Still Serving: Measuring the Eight-Year Impact of AmeriCorps on Alumni" (2008), available at http:// www.nationalservice.gov/sites/default/files/documents/08 0513 longstudy report.pdf.
- 20 Michael Brown, "'No' Nearly One Million Times," Huffington Post, February 15, 2012, available at http:// www.huffingtonpost.com/michael-brown/americorpsfunding b 1280200.html.
- 21 Corporation for National and Community Service, "Edward M. Kennedy Serve America Act," available at http://www.nationalservice.gov/about/legislation/ edward-m-kennedy-serve-america-act (last accessed August 2013).
- 22 Corporation for National and Community Service, "AmeriCorps," available at http://www.nationalservice. gov/programs/americorps (last accessed August 2013).
- 23 Zach Murray, "Celebrating AmeriCorps Week," Center for American Progress, March 14, 2013, available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/labor/ news/2013/03/14/56716/celebrating-americorpsweek/.
- 24 LaDonna Pavetti, Liz Schott, and Elizabeth Lower-Basch, "Creating Subsidized Employment Opportunities for Low-income Parents: The Legacy of the TANF Emergency Fund" (Washington: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities and CLASP, 2011), available at http://www. clasp.org/admin/site/publications/files/Subsidized-Employment-Paper-Final.pdf.
- 25 The White House, "Fact Sheet: American Jobs Act."
- 26 The White House, "The President's Budget for Fiscal Year 2014," available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/ budget (last accessed August 2013).
- 27 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Characteristics of Minimum Wage Workers: 2012," available at http://www. bls.gov/cps/minwage2012.htm (last accessed August
- 28 U.S. Department of Labor, "Wage and Hour Division: Minimum Wage," available at http://www.dol.gov/whd/ minimumwage.htm (last accessed August 2013).
- 29 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Characteristics of Minimum Wage Workers: 2002"; Ibid.
- 30 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "FastStats: Births and Natality," available at http://www.cdc.gov/ nchs/fastats/births.htm (last accessed August 2013); National Alliance for Caregiving and AARP, "Caregiving in the U.S. 2009" (2009), available at http://www.caregiving.org/pdf/research/Caregiving in the US 2009 full report.pdf.

- 31 Katherine Ross Phillips, "Getting Time Off: Access to Leave among Working Parents" (Washington: Urban Institute, 2004), available at http://www.urban.org/ uploadedPDF/310977 B-57.pdf.
- 32 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Union Members Summary," Press release, January 23, 2013, available at http://www.bls.gov/news.release/union2.nr0.htm.
- 33 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "2013 Federal Poverty Guidelines," available at http://www.medicaid. gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Eligibility/Downloads/2013-Federal-Poverty-level-charts. pdf (last accessed August 2013).
- 34 Wen-Jui Han and others, "Public Policies and Women's Employment After Childbearing." Working Paper 14660 (National Bureau of Economic Research, 2009), available at http://www.nber.org/papers/w14660.pdf.
- 35 Jennifer Erickson and Michael Ettlinger, "300 Million Engines of Growth: A Middle-Out Plan for Jobs, Business, and a Growing Economy" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/ report/2013/06/13/66204/300-million-engines-ofarowth/.
- 36 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Characteristics of Minimum Wage Workers: 2012."
- 37 Erickson and Ettlinger, "300 Million Engines of Growth."
- 38 John Schmitt, "Why Does the Minimum Wage Have No Discernible Effect on Employment?" (Washington: Center for Economic and Policy Research, 2013), available at http://www.cepr.net/documents/publications/ min-wage-2013-02.pdf.
- 39 Ann O'Leary, Matt Chayt, and Eve Weissman, "Social Security Cares: Why America is Ready for Paid Family and Medical Leave" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/labor/report/2012/09/27/39331/ social-security-cares/.
- 40 Healthy Families Act, H. Rept. 1876, 112 Cong; Erickson and Ettlinger, "300 Million Engines of Growth."
- 41 Erickson and Ettlinger, "300 Million Engines of Growth."
- 42 Ibid.
- 43 Ihid
- 44 Jamrisko and Kolet, "Cost of College Degree in U.S. Soars 12 Fold: Chart of the Day."
- 45 Brad Thomas, "Become a College Landlord with this Campus Housing REIT," Forbes, August 16, 2012, available at http://www.forbes.com/sites/investor/2012/08/16/become-a-college-landlord-with-thiscampus-housing-reit/.
- 46 Anne Johnson and Tobin Van Ostern, "It's Our Interest: The Need to Reduce Student Loan Interest Rates" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ higher-education/report/2013/02/13/53061/its-our-interest-the-need-to-reduce-student-loan-interest-rates/.
- 47 Sallie Mae, "How America Pays for College 2013" (2013), available at https://www.salliemae.com/assets/Core/ how-America-pays/howamericapays2013.pdf.

- 48 Alisa Cunningham and Gregory Kienzl, "Delinquency: The Untold Story of Student Loan Borrowing" (Washington: Institute for Higher Education Policy, 2011), available at http://www.asa.org/pdfs/corporate/delinquency the untold story.pdf.
- 49 U.S. Department of Education National Center for Education Statistics, "Fast Facts," available at http:// nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=77 (last accessed August 2013).
- 50 The White House, "College Scorecard," available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/issues/education/highereducation/college-score-card (last accessed August 2013).
- 51 Erickson and Ettlinger, "300 Million Engines of Growth."
- 52 Ibid.
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 Ibid
- 55 Federal Reserve Bank of New York, "Student Loan Debt by Age Group," available at http://www.newyorkfed. org/studentloandebt/ (last accessed August 2013).
- 56 Meta Brown and others, "Grading Student Loans," Liberty Street Economics blog, March 5, 2012, available at http://libertystreeteconomics.newyorkfed.org/2012/03/ grading-student-loans.html.
- 57 Rohit Chopra, "Student debt swells, federal loans now top a trillion," available at http://www.consumerfinance. gov/speeches/student-debt-swells-federal-loans-nowtop-a-trillion/ (last accessed August 2013).
- 58 Cunningham and Kienzl, "Delinquency."
- 59 Anne Johnson, Tobin Van Ostern, and Abraham White, "The Student Debt Crisis" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at http://www. $\underline{american progress.org/wp\text{-}content/uploads/2012/10/}$ WhiteStudentDebt-5.pdf.
- 60 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, "Student Loan Affordability: Analysis of Public Input on Impact on Solutions" (2013), available at http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201305 cfpb rfi-report student-loans.
- 61 U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Daily Treasury Yield Curve Rates," available at http://www.treasury.gov/ resource-center/data-chart-center/interest-rates/ Pages/TextView.aspx?data=yield (last accessed August
- 62 Johnson and Van Ostern, "It's Our Interest."
- 63 Ibid.
- 64 U.S. Department of Education, "Federal Student Aid: Pay as You Earn Plan," available at http://studentaid.ed.gov/ repay-loans/understand/plans/pay-as-you-earn (last accessed August 2013).
- 65 Beckie Supiano, "Income-Based Repayment of Student Loans: If Only Borrows Knew,"The Chronicle of Higher Education, July 2, 2012.
- 66 Erickson and Ettlinger, "300 Million Engines of Growth."

- 67 Joe Valenti and David Bergeron, "How Qualified Student Loans Could Protect Borrowers and Taxpayers" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ higher-education/report/2013/08/20/72508/howqualified-student-loans-could-protect-borrowers-andtaxpayers/.
- 68 Anthony Carnevale, Nicole Smith, and Jeff Strohl, "Recovery: Job Growth and Education Requirements through 2020," (Washington: Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce, 2013), available at http://cew.georgetown.edu/recovery2020/.
- 69 Ibid.
- 70 U.S. Department of Labor, "FY 2013 Congressional Budget Justification: Employment and Training Administration" (2012), available at http://www.dol.gov/dol/ budget/2013/PDF/CBJ-2013-v1-12.pdf.
- 71 U.S. Department of Labor, "Registered Apprenticeship National Results," available at http://www.doleta.gov/ OA/data_statistics.cfm (last accessed August 2013).
- 72 Erickson and Ettlinger, "300 Million Engines of Growth."
- 73 Ibid.
- 74 Ibid
- 75 Ruth Helman and others, "The 2013 Retirement Confidence Survey: Perceived Savings Needs Outpace Reality for Many" (Washington: Employee Benefit Research Institute, 2013), available at http://www.ebri.org/pdf/ surveys/rcs/2013/EBRI IB 03-13.No384.RCS.pdf.

- 76 Rhee, "The Retirement Savings Crisis."
- 77 Helman and others, "The 2013 Retirement Confidence Survey."
- 78 David Madland, "Making Saving for Retirement Easier, Cheaper, and More Secure" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/labor/report/2012/09/20/38616/making-saving-for-retirementeasier-cheaper-and-more-secure-2/.
- 79 Ibid.
- 80 Rowland Davis and David Madland, "American Retirement Savings Could be Much Better" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/report/2013/08/20/72469/american-retirement-savingscould-be-much-better/.
- 81 Ibid
- 82 Ibid.
- 83 Christian Weller and Sam Ungar, "The Universal Savings Credit" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/economy/report/2013/07/19/70058/the-universal-savings-credit/.

The Center for American Progress is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to promoting a strong, just, and free America that ensures opportunity for all. We believe that Americans are bound together by a common commitment to these values and we aspire to ensure that our national policies reflect these values. We work to find progressive and pragmatic solutions to significant domestic and international problems and develop policy proposals that foster a government that is "of the people, by the people, and for the people."



